

This is an Open Access document downloaded from ORCA, Cardiff University's institutional repository: <https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/id/eprint/119832/>

This is the author's version of a work that was submitted to / accepted for publication.

Citation for final published version:

Pickles, Tim , Alten, Rieke, Boers, Maarten, Bykerk, Vivian, Christensen, Jared, Christensen, Robin, van Hoogstraten, Hubert, Simon, Lee S., Tam, Lai-Shan and Choy, Ernest H. 2019. Adaptive trial designs in rheumatology: Report from the OMERACT Special Interest Group. *Journal of Rheumatology* 46 (10) , pp. 1406-1408. 10.3899/jrheum.181054

Publishers page: <http://dx.doi.org/10.3899/jrheum.181054>

Please note:

Changes made as a result of publishing processes such as copy-editing, formatting and page numbers may not be reflected in this version. For the definitive version of this publication, please refer to the published source. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite this paper.

This version is being made available in accordance with publisher policies. See <http://orca.cf.ac.uk/policies.html> for usage policies. Copyright and moral rights for publications made available in ORCA are retained by the copyright holders.



**Adaptive Trial Designs in Rheumatology: Report from ~~an~~the OMERACT Special Interest Group**

Tim Pickles<sup>1</sup>, Rieke Alten<sup>2</sup>, Maarten Boers<sup>3</sup>, Vivian Bykerk<sup>4,5</sup>, Jared Christensen<sup>6</sup>, Robin Christensen<sup>7</sup>, Hubert van Hoogstraten<sup>8</sup>, Lee S Simon<sup>9</sup>, Lai-Shan Tam<sup>10</sup> and Ernest H Choy<sup>1</sup>.

1. CREATE Centre, Section of Rheumatology, Division of Infection and Immunity, Cardiff University, Cardiff, UK.
2. Schlosspark Klinik, Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany
3. Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics; and Amsterdam Rheumatology and immunology Center; Amsterdam University Medical Centers, location VUmc; Amsterdam, Netherlands.
4. Department of Rheumatology, Hospital for Special Surgery, Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, NY, USA
5. Rebecca McDonald Center for Arthritis & Autoimmune Disease, Mount Sinai Hospital, University of Toronto, ON, Canada
6. Pfizer, New York, USA
7. Musculoskeletal Statistics Unit, The Parker Institute, Bispebjerg and Frederiksberg Hospital, Denmark & Department of Rheumatology, Odense University Hospital, Denmark
8. Sanofi, Bridgewater, New Jersey, USA
9. SDG, LLC, Cambridge, USA
10. Division of Rheumatology, Department of Medicine & Therapeutics Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong.

Correspondence: Professor Ernest Choy, CREATE Centre, Section of Rheumatology,  
Division of Infection and Immunity, Cardiff University School of Medicine, Cardiff  
University, Cardiff, UK CF14 4XN. Email: [choyeh@cardiff.ac.uk](mailto:choyeh@cardiff.ac.uk)

Key words: adaptive trial design, OMERACT core outcome set, early phase clinical  
trial, **R**heumatoid arthritis, systematic review

## Abstract

### Objective

Adaptive trial design was developed initially for oncology to improve trial efficiency. If optimised for Rheumatology, it may improve trial efficiency by reducing sample size and time.

### Methods

A systematic review assessed [current](#) design of phase-~~II~~ [II](#) clinical trials in Rheumatoid Arthritis [regulatory requirements for adaptive design was also reviewed.](#)

### Results

~~56 trials were reviewed.~~ Most trials had 4 groups (~~1 control and 3 intervention~~), with an average group size of 34 patients. ACR20 ~~measured at 16 weeks~~ was the most commonly used primary endpoint. [Regulatory review established a list of methodology issues.](#)

### Conclusion

The next step is to undertake a systematic review of adaptive designs [utilised in early phase trials](#) in non-Rheumatic conditions [and produce a statistical analysis plan for assessing outcome measures for interim analysis.](#)

## Introduction

Randomized controlled/clinical trials are the gold standard in evidence-based medicine. However, an editorial in the Journal of Rheumatology, "Arthritis Clinical Trial at a Crossroad" in 2015 by Pope et al highlighted the "critical state of rheumatology clinical trials". [1] Clinical Trialists struggled to recruit patients because of inefficient trial design, funding and regulatory requirements. Recruiting patients from countries with less access to expensive treatment has become more common but increases the risk of higher placebo response. This is a common issue and not unique to Rheumatology. Clinical trials are resource intensive, in terms of time, personnel, finance and available patient pool. Some of these obstacles could be mitigated by using adaptive trial designs, which have been developed to improve clinical trial efficiency. Adaptive clinical trial designs have been increasingly used in Oncological and Cardiovascular diseases. [2-6] Both the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and European Medicine Agency (EMA) accept adaptive clinical trial designs, issuing guidance on aspects that require special consideration. [7, 8]

An adaptive clinical trial is defined as a design that allows modifications to the trial, and/or statistical procedures of the trial, after its initiation without undermining its validity and integrity. [9] The purpose is to make clinical trials more flexible and efficient. However, modifications and adaptations should be planned prospectively and based on analyses of interim data collected at pre-planned timepoints within the study, with or without formal statistical hypothesis testing in an unblinded manner.

[10]

Adaptive clinical trial designs are attractive and promising as ineffective doses or treatments may be dropped early, and [a larger number of patients allocated to therapeutically promising in-treatment arms can be adjusted](#) based on interim analyses. Moreover, these designs allow for tailored dose titration of individual agents based on observed results so that the optimal dose may be more rapidly and efficiently identified. [This will also reduce the number of patients receiving subtherapeutic doses in early phase II trials. In large intervention trials, such as surgery, non-promising therapies, can be terminated early.](#) If the statistical and methodological principles of adaptive clinical trial designs can be optimized in Rheumatic Diseases, it will address some of the issues highlighted by Pope et al. by improving clinical trial efficiency, reducing sample size, exposure to inadequate doses, time and cost, ~~to the~~ [which will](#) benefit ~~of~~ funders, researchers and patients.

#### **Adaptive Trial Design Steering Committee**

Members of the steering committee of the adaptive trial design SIG include Rheumatologists, clinical trialists, epidemiologists, and statisticians from academia and industry. Regular teleconferences have been held to discuss objectives, research plan and report progress.

Adaptive clinical trial design is novel to Rheumatology, so the initial focus of the SIG will be in Rheumatoid Arthritis as RA OMERACT core outcome set already exists with established composite outcome measures such as American College of Rheumatology (ACR) responses criteria and Disease Activity Score (DAS), which are

widely used as primary endpoint in clinical trials. For adaptive design trials, it is important to establish the clinical relevance and discriminatory performance of these outcome measures at earlier, relevant interim timepoints in particularly their ability to predict final outcome to select the best outcome measure for interim analysis. ~~Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) will be the initial focus of the SIG since OMERACT core outcome measures are the established gold standard and are widely used in clinical trials.~~

The key objectives of the adaptive trial design SIG are:

1. Define optimal study design(s) including determination of the best outcome measures, [116] time point and sample size for interim statistical analysis
2. Identify potential barriers and the methodological issues to implementation of adaptive trial design in practice and address issues raised by FDA and EMA in RA
3. Explore ~~the types of potential~~ biases ~~that could occur~~ related to inference from adaptive trial designs in Rheumatology
4. Explore how adaptive trial designs may be applied in different phases and types of clinical trials (e.g. phase I-IV drug development trials, head-to-head comparison trials, pragmatic strategy trials).

## Method

First, a systematic review of early phase clinical trials in RA was conducted to establish current practice. Adaptive trial design will need to be more efficient that

Formatted: Font: Bold

[these standards for it to be adopted. Second, a review of regulatory requirements to identify key methodological issues that should be addressed.](#)

### **1. Systematic review of early phase clinical trials in RA**

We conducted a systematic review that included 56 early phase II trials in RA and found only one trial with an adaptive design [12]. Most phase II trials in RA had 4 groups (1 control and 3 intervention), and an average sample size for each group of 34 patients. ACR20 measured at 16 weeks was the most commonly used primary endpoint. The search also identified a statistical simulation study suggesting that adaptive designs can be applied to early phase trials in RA. This systematic review identified the typical study design of phase II trials in RA including the number of intervention groups, sample sizes and primary endpoint. Adaptive trial design would need to demonstrate superior efficiency for it to be adopted for RA.

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.63 cm + Indent at: 1.27 cm

### **2. Review Regulatory Requirements**

Both the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the US and European Medicine Agency (EMA) in principle accept adaptive design trials. However, they have also highlighted methodological issues, which will be addressed by the SIG.

These include:

- dissemination of interim results, especially if not fully blinded or incorporate some subjective element / analyst access to unblinded interim results and how they may influence investigators managing the trial (who must remain unequivocally objective), i.e. operational bias;

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.63 cm + Indent at: 1.27 cm



- ~~define the minimum sample size or number of included participants that would be required for have to reach an interim analysis time point for decisions to adjust protocols a study;~~  
 • define the minimum minimum sample size or number of included participants that would be required for have to reach an interim analysis time point for decisions to adjust protocols a study;
- define the risk of results based on p-values alone;
- control of the type I error rate;
- interpretation of study results when the study design has changed as a result of interim analyses;
- rejection of a global null hypothesis across all stages, which may not be sufficient or methodologically sound;
- involvement of sponsor personnel in interim decision making;
- differential population for recruitment before and after modification, which will affect treatment effect;
- making hypothesis claims from results of interim analyses;
- interim analyses/adaptation choices provide multiple opportunities to show a successful treatment effect (with greater likelihood of doing so than if no such analyses existed), thus introducing inherent multiplicity bias;
- the potential to select a modification as a result of an interim analysis that, by random chance, is more favourable than the true value, thus creating bias that will lead to an overestimate of the true treatment effect;
- limiting the opportunity to reflect on the data, including safety issues, and thus limiting the design of future well-thought-through research;
- an increase in pressure to make assumptions, even when only limited prior information exists;

- exploratory adaptive design study flaws, which could lead to sub-therapeutic dose selection in subsequent (adequate and well-controlled) trials;

### **Research Plan**

After several iterations, the steering committee have decided on two work packages and discussed options for a third work package.

#### **Work Package 1: Optimal design of phase II adaptive trial designs in RA**

Systematic review found that ACR20 was the most commonly used primary outcome measured in early phase clinical trials. However, a continuous variable, such as DAS28, SDAI or CDAI, may perform better for interim analyses. Primary outcome and the outcome for interim analyses do not need to be the same. However, if different, time effect and correlation between these outcome measures needs to be examined. Some studies have shown that response at week 4 may be predictive of response at 3 months suggesting that this should be assessed as a potential first time point for interim analysis. A statistical simulation/analysis plan is being developed to assess the discriminatory performance of outcome measures at timepoints, week 4, 8 and 12.

#### **Work Package 2: A systematic review of adaptive designs utilised in early phase trials in other conditions**

In accordance with OMERACT Technical Advisory Group recommendations, [\[137\]](#) the SIG will undertake a systematic review of adaptive trial designs in early phase clinical

trials beyond musculoskeletal conditions. A preliminary search found a majority of these trials in oncology and cardiovascular diseases.

### **Options for Work Package 3**

Several options for work package 3 were considered, these included:

- develop/identify best composite outcome measures for clinical trials
- safety and high-risk patients
- potential use of adaptive designs in phase III and IV trials

### Potential Limitations

**Formatted:** Font: Bold

[One potential limitation for adaptive design is change in regulatory requirement for clinical trials in Rheumatology e.g. time for escape therapy, placebo control versus active controls. The SIG will continue to review and update research agenda to address these issues.](#)

Ethical Approval: Not applicable.

Funding: CREATE Centre is funded by Arthritis Research UK and Health and Care Research Wales. The Parker Institute, Bispebjerg and Frederiksberg Hospital (RC) is supported by a core grant from the Oak Foundation (OCA-13-309)

Conflict of Interest: EC has received research grants and/or served as member of advisory boards and speaker bureaus of Abbvie, Allergan, Amgen, AstraZeneca, Bio-Cancer, Biogen, BMS, Boehringer Ingelheim, Celgene, Chugai Pharma, Daiichi Sankyo, Eli Lilly, Ferring Pharmaceutical, GSK, Hospira, ISIS, Jazz Pharmaceuticals, Janssen, MedImmune, Merrimack Pharmaceutical, MSD, Napp, Novimmune, Novartis, ObsEva, Pfizer, Regeneron, Roche, R-Pharm, Sanofi, SynAct Pharma, Synovate, Tonix and UCB. HvH is an employee of Sanofi-Genzyme and holds stock in the company. LST has received research grants and/or served as member of advisory boards and speaker bureaus of Abbvie, Eli Lilly, Celltrion, Janssen, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi. JC is an employee of Pfizer. All other others have no conflicts of interest.



## References

1. Pope JE, Thorne JC, Haraoui BP, Karsh J, Keystone EC, Bennett L. Arthritis clinical trials at a crossroad. *J Rheumatol.* 2015;42:14-7.
2. [Harrington JA, Wheeler GM, Sweeting MJ, Mander AP, Jodrell DI. Adaptive designs for dual-agent phase I dose-escalation studies. \*Nat Rev Clin Oncol.\* 2013 May;10\(5\):277-88.](#)
3. [Wason JM, Abraham JE, Baird RD, Gournaris I, Vallier AL, Brenton JD, Earl HM, Mander AP. A Bayesian adaptive design for biomarker trials with linked treatments. \*Br J Cancer.\* 2015 Sep 1;113\(5\):699-705.](#)
4. [Pallmann P, Bedding AW, Choodari-Oskooei B, Dimairo M, Flight L, Hampson LV, Holmes J, Mander AP, Odondi L, Sydes MR, Villar SS, Wason JMS, Weir CJ, Wheeler GM, Yap C, Jaki T. Adaptive designs in clinical trials: why use them, and how to run and report them. \*BMC Med.\* 2018 Feb 28;16\(1\):29.](#)
5. [Lai TL, Lavori PW, Tsang KW. Adaptive enrichment designs for confirmatory trials. \*Stat Med.\* 2018 Sep 11.](#)
6. [Rosenblum M, Hanley DF. Adaptive Enrichment Designs for Stroke Clinical Trials. \*Stroke.\* 2017 Jul;48\(7\):2021-2025.](#)
7. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services FaDA, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER). Adaptive Design Clinical Trials for Drugs and Biologics 2010 [cited 2017 25/07/2017]. Available from: <https://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm201790.pdf>.
8. (CHMP) CFMPFHU. REFLECTION PAPER ON METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES IN CONFIRMATORY CLINICAL TRIALS PLANNED WITH AN ADAPTIVE DESIGN 2007 [cited

2017 25/07/2017]. Available from:

[http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\\_GB/document\\_library/Scientific\\_guideline/2009/09/WC500003616.pdf](http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/2009/09/WC500003616.pdf).

[49.](#) Nelson NJ. Adaptive clinical trial design: has its time come? J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:1217-8.

[105.](#) Emerson SS. Issues in the use of adaptive clinical trial designs. Stat Med. 2006;25:3270-96; discussion 302-4, 320-5, 326-47.

[116.](#) Boers M, Kirwan JR, Wells G, Beaton D, Gossec L, d'Agostino MA, et al. Developing core outcome measurement sets for clinical trials: OMERACT filter 2.0. J Clin Epidemiol. 2014;67:745-53.

[12.](#) Pickles T, Christensen R, Tam L-S, Simon LS, Choy EH. Early Phase and Adaptive Design Clinical Trials in Rheumatoid Arthritis: A systematic review of early phase trials. Rheumatology Advances in Practice. 2018;rky045-rky.

[137.](#) Boers M, Kirwan JR, Tugwell P, Beaton D, Bingham III CO, Conaghan PG. The OMERACT Handbook [11.09.2018]. Available from: <https://www.dropbox.com/s/q3ti8fympqqrk0/OMERACT%20Handbook%20Jan%2019%202018.pdf?dl=0>.